



Cardioprotective Effect of Survivin in Doxorubicin-Induced Myocardial Injury Model

Beom Seob Lee

The Graduate School Yonsei University

Graduate Program in Science for Aging

Molecular Biology

Cardioprotective Effect of Survivin in Doxorubicin-Induced Myocardial Injury Model

Directed by Professor Seok-Min Kang

The Doctoral Dissertation submitted to the Department of Graduate Program in Science for Aging and the Graduate School of Yonsei University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Science for Aging

Beom Seob Lee

June 2015

This certifies that the doctoral dissertation of

Beom Seob Lee is approved.

Thesis Supervisor: Seok-Min Kang

Saper L

Thesis Committee Member: Sang-Hak Lee

h 1h fal

Thesis Committee Member: Sungha Park

Thesis Committee Member: Youn Wook Chung

1 con

Thesis Committee Member: Hyeon Ho Kim

The Graduate School

Yonsei University

June 2015

Acknowledgment

First of all, I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my family who been with me and led me throughout my life.

I especially want to thank my supervisor, Professor Seok-Min Kang, M.D., Ph.D., whose stimulating suggestion and encouragement helped me throughout my academic life.

I am grateful to Professor Sang-Hak Lee, M.D., Ph.D., Sungha Park, M.D., Ph.D., Youn Wook Chung, Ph.D. and Hyeon Ho Kim, Ph.D. for their constructive advices.

I wish to express my warm and sincere thanks to Professor Han-Woong Lee, Ph.D., Ji Hyung Chung, Ph.D., Kyung-Hye Lee, Ph.D., Hoyoun Won, M.D., Ph.D. and Jaewon Oh, M.D. who advising and encouraging me throughout my years at the graduate school. The generous support from Yonsei cardiovascular research institute and Severance Integrative Research Institute for Cerebral and Cardiovascular Diseases (SIRIC) are greatly appreciated. I want to thank Seahyoung Lee, Ph.D., Soyeon Lim, Ph.D., Hyo Jin Kang, Ph.D., Seongho Bae, Ph.D., Soon-Joong Kim, Ph.D., Soo Hyuk Kim, Ph.D., Yonghyen Yun, Ph.D., Jae Hyung Park, Ph.D., Seok Min Kwon, Ph.D., Taewon Jin, Ph.D., Min-Ji Cha, Ph.D., Seung Kwon Lee, Ph.D., DongKyu Kim, Ph.D., Soo Jin Ann, Ph.D., Hyun Ju Jeon, Ph.D., Onju Ham, Ph.D., Se Yeon Lee, Ph.D., Soo-Young Kim, and Ji-Won Choi for all their advice, support, interest and valuable hits from the heart. I also thank my colleagues Jae-il Roh, Sang Ho Nam, Juwan Hong, Junha van Kan, Sung Ku Kang, Hyelim Park, Hyewon Park, Soon Ho Choi, Ki Hyuk Moon, Jang Woo Jeon, Jung Min Lee, Bo Hyun Kim, Hyung-Ho Moon, Eunsuk Kim, Keunho Lee, Heejung Lim, Jung-Eun Si, Jueun Hong, Jungmin Kim, Jihei Sara Lee, Jisu Jeong, So Young Jo, Jiye Lee, Bo Kyung Kim, Jin-Sil Park, Subin Jung, Seulgee Lee for their efforts.

Last but not least, I would like to thank to my lovely friends.

June, 2015

Beom Seob Lee

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT ····································
I. INTRODUCTION 1
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS 6
1. A chemical and antibodies
2. Construction and protein purification of TAT-survivin
3. Animal care ······ 7
4. Langendorff–perfused rat heart
5. Cell culture ······ 9
6. Transduction of pHis/TAT-survivin fusion protein into cells and hearts 9
7. Subcellular fractionation
8. Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) 10
9. Immunoblot analysis
10. Cell viability, caspase-3 activity and TUNEL assays

11. Immunofluorescence microscopy	3
12. Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 14	4
13. Tussue staining immunohistochemistry	4
14. Statistical analysis	5

III. RESULTS

1. Doxorubicin induces apoptosis in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line 16
2. Doxorubicin decreases survivin expression levels in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte
cell line ····· 19
3. Doxorubicin decreases Sp1 protein level in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line
4. Doxorubicin increases p53 protein levels and its phosphorylation in the H9c2
cardiomyocyte cell line
5. Promoter sequence analysis of survivin gene
6. Doxorubicin suppresses survivin expression by the transcriptional activation
of p53 31
7. Doxorubicin induces protein degradation of Sp1 by associated with

proteasome-mediated proteolysis
8. Doxorubicin increases protein degradation of Sp1 via inactivation of
Akt/mTOR/p70S6K pathway ······ 36
9. Delivery of TAT-survivin fusion protein into the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell
line 38
10. TAT-survivin protects H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line from doxorubicin-
induced apoptosis ······ 41
11. TAT-survivin transduction leads to recovery of Bcl-2 expression
12. TAT-survivin restores the transcriptional activity of CREB by p38
inactivation ······ 48
13. Doxorubicin induces apoptosis in myocardial rat model (You should
describe what is myocardial rat model in Materials and Methods) 50
14. Doxorubicin decreases survivin expression levels in myocardial injury rat
model 53
15. Doxorubicin suppresses survivin gene by modulating transcription factors
Sp1 and p53 in myocardial injury rat model

16. Doxorubicin inhibits activation of the Akt/mTOR/p70S6k pathway in
myocardial injury rat model
17. Delivery of TAT-survivin fusion protein into the Sprague Dawley rat hearts
18. TAT-survivin protects rat cardiomyocyte from doxorubicin-induced in
myocardial injury rat model64
19. TAT-survivin protein-pretreated hearts demonstrated decreased caspase-3
activity in doxorubicin-induced myocardial injury rat model 67
20. Left ventricle Functional recovery after TAT-survivin delivery measured by
the Langendorff system
IV. DISCUSSION ······ 74
V. CONCLUSION
REFERENCES ······ 84
ABSTRACT (In Korean) 101

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Effect of doxorubicin on cell viability and apoptosis in the H9c2
cardiomyocyte cell line
Figure 2. Effect of doxorubicin on survivin protein and mRNA level in the
H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line
Figure 3. Effect of doxorubicin on Sp1 protein and mRNA level in the H9c2
cardiomyocyte cell line
Figure 4. Effect of doxorubicin on p53 activation and protein level in the H9c2
cardiomyocyte cell line 26
Figure 5. ClustalW alignment of the proximal promoter regions of the human,
mouse and rat survivin gene
Figure 6. Effect of doxorubicin on the transcriptional activity of Sp1 and p53
Figure 7. Effect of doxorubicin on Sp1 protein levels

Figure 8. Effects of doxorubicin on Sp1 upstream pathway in the H9c2 cardio-Figure 9. Intracelluar delivery of recombinant TAT-survivin protein in the H9c2 Figure 10. Effect of TAT-survivin transduction on cell viability and apoptosis under doxorubicin treatment in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line Figure 11. Effects of TAT-survivin on Bcl-2 expression in the H9c2 cardio-Figure 12. Effect of TAT- survivin on CREB and p38 MAPK in doxorubicintreated H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line 49 Figure 13. Effect of doxorubicin on apoptosis in myocardial rat model 51 Figure 14. Change of survivin protein and mRNA in doxorubicin-induced myo-Figure 15. Effect of doxorubicin on Sp1 and p53 in myocardial rat model 57 Figure 16. Effect of doxorubicin on Sp1 upstream in myocardial rat model ... 59

Figure 17. PTD delivery of TAT-survivin into the Sprague Dawley rat hearts

Figure 18. Effect of TAT-survivin on cardiotoxicity in doxorubicin-induced

myocardial rat model (You should describe what is doxorubicin-

induced myocardial rat model in Materials and Methods) 65

Figure 19. Effect of TAT-survivin on doxorubicin-induced decrease of caspase-3

Cardioprotective Effect of Survivin in Doxorubicin-Induced Myocardial Injury Model

Beom Seob Lee



(Directed by Professor Seok-Min Kang)

Apoptosis has been known to be an important mechanism of doxorubicininduced cardiotoxicity. Survivin, belongs to the inhibitor of apoptosis protein (IAP) family is associated with apoptosis and alteration of cardiomyocyte molecular pathways. Recent studies have shown that reduction of survivin expression is associated with less favorable cardiac remodeling in animal models. However, the mechanism by which survivin mediates the cardioprotective effect against doxorubicin-associated injury has not been fully determined. Therefore, we investigated the anti-apoptotic effect and molecular cellular mechanisms of survivin using a protein delivery system in doxorubicininduced cardiomyocyte injury model.

We demonstrated that treatment of doxorubicin resulted in a significant decrease of survivin expression in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line and Sprague Dawley rat hearts. In addition, Sp1 play a role in the upregulation of survivin expression, doxorubicin treatment increases a degradation of Sp1 protein via proteasome-mediated proteolysis. Transcription of survivin decreases by activation of p53. The effect of doxorubicin is consistent with the observed increase p53 protein level and the phosphorylation level at Ser¹⁵ in the cardiomyocyte. Following doxorubicin treatment of the cardiomyocyte, the survivin promoter has reduced levels of bound Sp1, but an increased level of bound p53. Moreover, the upstream signaling Sp1 protein, such as Akt, mTOR and p70s6k, were also decreased by doxorubicin treatment.

We constructed a recombinant survivin fused to the protein transduction domain (PTD) derived from HIV-TAT protein. And, Purified recombinant TAT- survivin protein were efficiently delivered to H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line and Sprague Dawley rat hearts via intraperitoneal injection, and its transduction showed an anti-apoptotic effect, demonstrated by reduced caspase-3 activity, and apoptotic index concomitantly with increased cell viability against doxorubicin-associated injury. Moreover, TAT-Survivin protein-pretreated hearts demonstrated decreased less cardiomyocyte vacuolation and myofibrillar disarray, compared with doxorubicin-associated injury hearts.

We evaluated the effect of TAT-survivin protein on cardiac functional recovery using Langendorff system. After ischemia-reperfusion injury, cardioprotective effect of TAT-survivin such as functional recovery measured by LVDP (left ventricular developed pressure) and RPP (rate pressure product) was observed.

Furthermore, the survivin pretreatment using PTD-mediated delivery has a potential cardioprotective effect against doxorubicin-induced cardiomyocyte apoptosis through the mechanism involving a decrease in the phosphorylation of p38 MAP kinase, mitochondrial Smac release, and increased expression of Bcl2 and activated nuclear translocation of CREB.

Present study suggest that firstly, survivin may be an important protein in the process of doxorubicin-induced cardiomyocyte injury, and secondly, TATsurvivin protein has a potentially protective effect against doxorubicin-induced cardiomyocyte apoptosis. Taken together, these results may provide the insight for future development of drugs targeted on myocardial protection under cardiovascular diseases.



Key Words: Apoptosis; Survivin; TAT-HIV; Doxorubicin; Cardiomyocyte

Cardioprotective Effect of Survivin in Doxorubicin-Induced Myocardial Injury Model

Beom Seob Lee

Graduate program in Science for Aging The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Seok-Min Kang)

I.INTRODUCTION

Doxorubicin is a quinine-containing anthracycline anticancer drug, is the most commonly used chemotherapeutic agent. Doxorubicin is frequently included in chemotherapy regimens for the treatment of stomach, lung, breast, ovarian, thyroid cancer, solid tumors, soft tissue sarcoma multiple myeloma and Hodgkin's lymphoma. Although it has strong anticancer effect, doxorubicin is -1-

also known to cause the cardiotoxicity that leads to hypotension, arrhythmia, depression of left ventricular function and heart failure [1-3]. A variety of studies have been tried to find out the mechanisms about doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity, and apoptosis, including generation of reactive oxygen species, leading to DNA damage or lipid peroxidation have been inferred as the most important mechanism to explain doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity [4,5]. Therefore, understanding of doxorubicin-induced apoptosis signaling and investigation of the possible candidate molecules, which have an anti-apoptotic effect against doxorubicin-associated injury should be crucial.

Survivin is the smallest member of the inhibitor of apoptosis gene family. Survivin gene contain one BIR1 (baculovirus IAP repeat) domain and an extended C-terminal-helix. The 16.5 kDa cytoplasmic protein is believed to play a role in cell cycle regulation and its encoding region was localized in chromosome 17q25 [6]. Expression of the survivin gene is largely regulated at the transcription level [7]. The promoter region of survivin gene contains many transcription factors binding sites. These transcription factors include NF- κ B, GATA-1, Stat3, E2F, c-myc, KLF5, DEC1, Sp1, Sp3, HIF-1 α and tumor suppressor p53 and Rb [7-14]. It has been reported that down-regulation of survivin transcription by the DNA-damaging agent doxorubicin is mediated by p53 induction [15]. It is also known that p53 suppresses survivin gene expression both directly and indirectly [7-9,16,17]. Conversely, accumulated

- 2 -

evidences have demonstrated that Sp1 and Sp3 transcription factors transactivate the survivin promoter [18].

The survivin is selectively expressed in cells during the G2/M phase of the cell cycle in a cell cycle-dependent and its mRNA and protein are degraded at G1 by ubiquitin-dependent proteasome [13,19]. And, survivin is overexpressed during development and in most human cancer tissues [20]. It has been reported that survivin was able to suppress caspase-3 even though in vitro binding experiment was failed and survivin is known to interact with Smac, which is the inhibitor of other IAPs [21]. Since the main role of survivin is considered as the suppression of the caspase and apoptosis, survivin may be one of appropriate target for the doxorubicin-induced cardiomyocyte apoptosis signal cascade. Survivin has been found to be cardioprotection [22-24]. In the spontaneously hypertensive rat, reduction of survivin expression is associated with increased apoptosis and cardiac remodeling [25], and heart failure developed in survivin cardiac specific knock-out mice [26]. In addition, reduction of survivin expression in the failing human heart is associated with pre-mature cardiac death, due to a decreased number of cardiomyocyte and progressive heart failure [27].

The contribution of the phophatidylinositide-3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway have been demonstrated not only in various cancer cells [28,29], but also in normal cells including cardiomyocyte [30]. In the later cases, survivin plays a role in the insulintreated cardioprotection effect in the ischemia/reperfused heart through the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway. The microtubule localization of survivin and the enhancement of microtubule structure stability with the overexpression of survivin are important evidences to manifest that survivin might be one of targets for doxorubicin injury because those cytoskeletal proteins are essential to heart contraction [31]. Moreover, it was reported that the inhibition of the survivin resulted in similar biochemical interaction with the treatment of doxorubicin [32]. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that the survivin gene therapy prevents myocytes apoptosis and attenuates left ventricular systolic dysfunction in the doxorubicin-induced heart model [33]. Although its mechanism is not clearly understood, survivin is considered to be key factor regulating cell survival and suppression of apoptosis.

HIV-TAT protein is one of the smallest proteins with protein transduction domain (PTD), which contain 11 amino acids (YGRKKRRQRRR) from 47 to 57aa of HIV–TAT protein essential for its transduction function. HIV–TATfusion protein containing N-terminal PTD has been reported to transduce in vitro into almost all cell types tested, including all blood cells, hepatocellular carcinoma cells and leukemic T cells [34]. In the present study, a recombinant survivin fused to the PTD derived from HIV-TAT protein were delivered into the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line or Sprague Dawley rat hearts, because the transfection efficacy to cardiomyocyte with the non-viral carrier is extremely poor. And then, we evaluated anti-apoptotic effect of PTD-mediated transduction of the recombinant survivin against doxorubicin-associated injury with the apoptosis-related signals.



II. Material and Method

1. A chemical and antibodies

Doxorubicin was purchased from Tocris. Anti-survivin, anti-caspase-3 (cleaved form), anti-phospho-Akt (Ser⁴⁷³), anti-Akt, anti-phospho-mTOR (Ser²⁴⁸¹) anti-phospho-CREB (Ser¹³³), anti-CREB, anti-phospho-p38 (Thr¹⁸⁰/Tyr¹⁸²), anti-p38, anti-phospho-p53 (Ser¹⁵) and anti-mTOR antibodies were obtained from Cell Signaling. Anti-Sp1, anti-phospho-p70S6K (Thr⁴²¹/Ser⁴²⁴), anti-p70S6K, anti-Smac, anti-Lamin B, anti-β-actin and anti-GAPDH antibodies were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology. Anti-p53, anti-VDAC1, anti-Bc1-2, anti-Bax antibodies were obtained from Abcam. Anti-his-tag antibody was obtained from Thermo. Anti-cytochrome c antibody was included in ApoAlert[®] Cell Fractionation Kit (Clontech).

2. Construction and protein purification of TAT-survivin

The survivin fragment was inserted into the BamHI and XhoI sites of the pHis/TAT vector [35] for TAT-survivin fusion protein expression. *Escherichia coli* BL21 pLysS (Novagen) was transformed to pHis/TAT-survivin plasmid, and then grown for 24 hours at 37°C in LB broth supplied with 100 μ g/ml kanamycin and 34 μ g/ml chloramphenicol and while shaking at 200 rpm. Protein expression was induced by the addition of 1 mM β -D-1-

thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) for 80 minutes while shaking at 37°C. The pHis/TAT-survivin fusion protein were then isolated using a urea-denaturing protein purification protocol. The bacterial pellet was harvested and resuspended in buffer (8 M urea, 100 mM NaCl, and 20 mM Hepes, pH 8.0). The clarified lysate was loaded onto a Ni-IDA affinity column (Macherey-Nagel). TAT-survivin protein was eluted with imidazole in buffer. The proteins were loaded onto a PD-10 desalting column in order to exchange the buffer to phosphate buffer saline (PBS).

3. Animal care

Sprague-Dawley rats (ORIENT-Charles River Technology), weighing 200-250 g, were used for all experiments. Animals were housed in plastic cages with soft bedding under a 12/12 hours reversed light and dark cycle, and freely accessed to food and water. 8 weeks old rats were randomly divided into three groups and they were pretreated with 2 mg/kg of TAT-survivin for 1 hour and then 15 mg/kg of doxorubicin by intraperitoneal injection. After, rats were treated again with 2mg/kg of TAT-survivin at 1, 3, 5 and 7 days. Anesthesia was induced with 5% isoflurane in a gas mixture of 70% nitrous oxide and 30% oxygen, and was maintained using 2% in the same gas mixture during the operation. Rectal temperature was maintained at 37.0±0.51°C with a homeothermic blanket throughout the procedure (Harvard Apparatus). During these procedures, every effort was made to minimize usage and their sufferings.

4. Langendorff –perfused rat heart

Heart were removed from anesthetized Sprague Dawley rats and mounted on a Langendorff apparatus, perfused with a modified Krebs-Henseleit buffer containing (mmol/L) 112 NaCl, 5 KCl, 1 KH₂PO₄, 1.2 MgSO₄, 25 NaHCO₃, 11.5 Glucose, 2 Pyruvate, 1.25 CaCl₂ and 0.026 Na2EDTA. The buffer was saturated with 95% O2/5% CO2 (pH 7.4, 37°C) as previously described [36]. A 50% ethanol-filled balloon was inserted into the left ventricular cavity and coupled to a pressure transducer. The balloon was inflated until a left ventricular end diastolic pressure (LVEDP) reached 10 mm Hg. A 4-0 silk suture with its ends through a small plastic tube was placed around the left coronary artery, approximately 2-3 mm from its origin. After 30 minutes stabilization, myocardial ischemia was initiated by clamping the plastic tube onto the surface of the heart. After 30 minutes of ischemia, the snare was released and coronary perfusion was restored for 10 to 40 minutes. Successful coronary occlusion and reperfusion were verified by visual inspection of the color in the apex and typical electrocardiogram changes. Contractile performance was evaluated on the basis of heart rate, left ventricular systolic pressure (LVSP), LVEDP and left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) with a hemodynamic analyzing system.

5. Cell culture

The rat heart-derived myoblast cell line, H9c2 (2-1) cardiomyocyte was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). H9c2 cardiomyocyte were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) supplement with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin streptomycin (Gibco) at 37°C in humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂. All experiments were performed using cells between 10 to 25 passage numbers.

6. Transduction of pHis/TAT-survivin fusion protein into cells and hearts

H9c2 cardiomyocyte were incubated for 24 hours in 100 mm culture plate and changed to 0.5% FBS DMEM for 24 hours starvation. After starvation, for the transduction of TAT-survivin, cells were treated with various concentration of pHis/TAT-survivin fusion protein. The cells were washed by using PBS for 2 times while centrifuged.

Sprague Dawley rats were randomly divided and they were treated with 1 to 10 mg/kg of TAT-survivin for 1 hour by intraperitoneal injection. After sacrifice, heart was isolated and transduced TAT-survivin was detected by immune blot using survivin or His-tag antibody and immunohistochemistry using His-tag antibody.

7. Subcellular fractionation

Cell pellets were separated into cytoplasmic, nucleic, membrane and mitochondrial fractions using the Mitochondria Isolation Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. After washing, cells were suspended in lysis buffer to disrupt the plasma membrane without solubilizing it and to aid in the isolation of cytosolic proteins. Plasma membranes and compartmentalized organelles, such as nuclei, mitochondria, and the endoplasmic reticulum, remained intact and were pelleted by centrifugation at 1000 x g for 10 minutes. The resulting pellet was resuspended in disruption buffer, repeatedly passed through a narrow-gauge needle (26 or 21 gauge), and re-centrifuged to pellet nuclei, cell debris, and unbroken cells at 1000 x g for 10 minutes. The supernatant which contains mitochondria and the microsomal fraction was recentrifuged to pellet mitochondria at 6000 x g for 10 minutes. After removal of the supernatant, mitochondria and nuclei were dissolved using a lysis buffer and analyzed by SDS-PAGE as outlined below.

8. Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)

Total RNA isolated from cells using QIAzol-Reagent (Qiagen) was reverse transcribed using Omniscript Reverse Transcriptase (Qiagen). The cDNAs was amplified using TaKaRa Ex TaqTM polymerase (Takara). Levels of mRNA were analyzed by RT-PCR using the following primers. PCR products were separated by electrophoresis in a 1% agarose gel containing Gel-red (Biotium).

The primer sequence is

Rat <u>survivin F</u>, 5'-ATG GGT GCT ACG GCG CTG CCC-3' Rat <u>survivin R</u>, 5'-TCA GCG TAA GGC AGC CAG CTG-3' Rat <u>Sp1 F</u>, 5'- GGA GAA AAC AGC CCA GGA TGC-3' Rat <u>Sp1 R</u>, 5'-CTC ATC CGA ACG TGT GAA GC-3' Rat <u>Bcl-2 F</u>, 5'-GAC GCG AAG TGC TAT TGG T-3' Rat <u>Bcl-2 R</u>, 5'-TCA GGC TGG AAG GAG AAG AT-3' Rat <u>GAPDH F</u>, 5'-AAT GCA TCC TGC ACC ACC AAC TGC-3' Rat <u>GAPDH R</u>, 5'-GGA GGC CAT GTA GGC CAT GAG GTC-3'.



9. Immunoblot analysis

The cells were solubilized in a cell lysis buffer (Cell signaling) and centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 1 hour at 4°C. The proteins samples were separated by a SDS–polyacrylamide gel and transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride membranes. After blocking in TBS-tween 20 (TBS-T, 0.1% tween 20) containing 10% non-fat dry milk for 1 hour at room temperature, and incubated with primary antibodies for overnight at 4°C using Rocker machine. The membrane was washed three times with TBS-T for 7 minutes, and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with appropriate horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies. The antigen-antibody bands were detected using enhanced chemiluminescence reagent kit (Amersham pharmacia biotech) and quantified by densitometry.

10. Cell viability, caspase-3 activity and TUNEL assays

Cell viability was measured by the classical 2-(4,5-dimethyltriazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay (Amresco). The formazan crystals were dissolved by adding dimethylsulfoxide and absorbance was measured at the 570 nm with a spectrophotometer. The activity of caspase-3 in the cells was determined spectrophotometrically with an ApoalertTMCPP32/caspase-3 assay kit (BD Biosciences, USA) by measuring the release of the chromophore, p-nitroanilide (pNA), following hydrolysis of DEVD-pNA. Terminal deoxynucleotidyltransferase-mediated dUTP nick endlabeling (TUNEL) analysis was performed with a commercially available kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Intergen).

11. Immunofluorescence microscopy

The cells were incubated on Lab-Tek chamber slides (Nalgene Nunc, USA), and were fixed with 3% paraformaldehyde for 10 minutes at room temperature and washed with PBS. The cells were permeabilized in 0.5% Triton X-100 buffer (0.5% Triton X-100, 20 mM Hepes-KOH, pH 7.9, 50 mM NaCl, 3 mM MgCl₂, 300 mM sucrose) in PBS for 10 minutes and washed with PBS. They were blocked with PBS containing 0.3% goat serum and 5% bovine serum albumin for 1 hour at room temperature and then incubated for 1 hour with mouse monoclonal survivin antibody or rabbit monoclonal Sp1 antibody. The cells were washed with PBS once and incubated with FITC-488, goat antimouse IgG or Rhodamine Red-X, goat anti-rabbit IgG (dilution 1:500; Invitrogen) as secondary antibody for 1 hour in dark room. After washing, the cells were mounted with ProLongantifade reagent containing DAPI. The immunoreactive signals were visualized by confocal laser scanning microscope LSM700 (Carl Zeiss, Germany).

12. Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP)

ChIP assay was performed according to Hsu *et al.* with minor modifications [37]. Briefly, formaldehyde-treated nuclear lysates were subjected to immunoprecipitation with anti-Sp1 and anti-p53 antibodies. The cross-linked chromatin complex was reversed in the presence of proteinase K and DNA fragments were purified. The DNA fragment (257-bp) of survivin promoter region (between -265 and -9) was amplified by PCR using a pair of primers as depicted in Fig. 5A: Rat survivin promoter F, 5'-AGG ACA CAA CTC CCA GCA AG- 3'; Rat survivin promoter R, 5'-CGC CAC AAT CCC TAA TTC AA- 3'. PCR condition was as follows: at 95°C for 30 sec; at 56°C for 30 sec; and at 72°C for 60 sec. After 36 cycles of PCR, products were analyzed by 2% agarose gel electrophoresis. For input data (5%), 25 µl aliquots of 500 µl samples were taken before immunoprecipitation.

13. Tissue staining and immunohistochemistry

Rat hearts were perfused with saline, removed, and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 24 hours in 4°C. Then, they were embedded in paraffin and prepared in 4 μ M cross sections. Rat hearts were stained with conventional hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) and Masson's trichrome for analysis of histology and fibrosis. For immunohistochemical analyses, sections were

deparaffinzed in xylene, rehydrated in graded ethanol solutions and washed with distilled water as described from other study [30]. Section were blocked with 5% goat serum in antibody diluent for 30 minutes and incubated overnight at 4°C with following antibodies: survivin, cleaved caspase-3 and His-tag (1:150). After rinsing three time in PBS, RTU horseradish peroxidase streptavidin (SA570A, Vector Laboratories) was applied and the slides are incubated for 10 minutes. For color development, 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) was used.

14. Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as means \pm S.E. One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc correction was used for comparison between the groups. Values of *p* less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

III. RESULTS

1. Doxorubicin induces apoptosis in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line

We first investigated the effect of doxorubicin on cell viability in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. Cells were treated with various concentrations of doxorubicin with 0.5% FBS for 24 hours, cell viability gradually decreased to about 49.8 \pm 0.4% with up to 1 μ M of doxorubicin (Fig. 1A and B). The treatment of 5 μ M of doxorubicin did not further decrease cell viability compared to that of 1 μ M of doxorubicin. We next studied whether the apoptosis were altered by doxorubicin treatment. The activation of caspase-3 was dramatically increased when the cells were treated with no more than 1 μ M of doxorubicin (Fig. 1C). Also, TUNEL assay showed that there were increased apoptosis index in doxorubicin-induced H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line (Fig. 1D and E). These data suggest that doxorubicin treatment of H9c2 cardiomyocyte resulted significant increase in cell death.







Figure 1 legend (the following page)

Fig.1. Effect of doxorubicin on cell viability and apoptosis in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. (A, B and C) The H9c2 cardiomyocyte were treated with various concentration of doxorubicin (DXR) for 24 hours. (A) Cell viability was assessed by the MTT assay. (B) Cells were photograped with microscope of Nikon coolpix 4500. (C) Caspase-3 activity was determined using caspase-3 activity assay kit. (D and E) Cells were treated with 1 μ M of of doxorubicin for 24 hours. Apoptotic cells were measured by the TUNEL assay. The results present the means of three independent experiments. **P* < 0.05; *****P* < 0.001. Ns: no significant.



2. Doxorubicin decreases survivin expression level in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line

We next investigated the effect of doxorubicin on survivin expression in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. Cells were treated with various concentrations of doxorubicin for 24 hours. As shown in Fig. 2A, survivin protein levels were decreased by doxorubicin in a concentration-dependent manner. And, the immunofluorescence microscopy image showed that the protein of survivin was down-regulated by doxorubicin (1 μ M) treatment (Fig. 2B). Fig. 2C shows the time-dependent decrease of survivin protein level, when treated with 1 μ M of doxorubicin for variable time. We further studied changes in mRNA level of survivin by doxorubicin treatment. RT-PCR showed that there were decreased in survivin mRNA levels (Fig. 2D). These data suggest that doxorubicin decreases survivin protein level and mRNA level in H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line.


Figure 2 legend (the following page)

Fig. 2. Effect of doxorubicin on survivin protein and mRNA level in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. (A) The H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line were treated with various concentration of doxorubicin (DXR) for 24 hours. Equal amounts of protein were separated by SDS-PAGE gel, and immunoblot analysis was performed using anti-survivin antibody. (B) The cells were treated with 1 μ M of doxorubicin treatment for 24 hours. Survivin proein was also observed with confocal microscopy using primary anti-survivin antibody and FITC-conjugated secondary antibody (200x). (C and D) The cells were treated with 1 μ M of doxorubicin treatment for the indicated time point. (C) Whole cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE gel and analyzed by immunoblotting with antibodies against survivin and GAPDH, and (D) total RNA was analyzed by RT-PCR (28 cycles) using primers specific to survivin and GAPDH gene. The results present the means of three independent experiments. **P* < 0.05. Ns: no significant.

3. Doxorubicin decreases Sp1 protein level in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line

It has been reported that Sp1 plays a role in the up regulation of survivin expression in cancer cells at the transcriptional level [38], we first examined Sp1 level in doxorubicin-treated H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. When the cells were treated with various amounts of doxorubicin for 12 hours, Sp1 protein level gradually decreased to about 0.42 ± 0.1 with up to 1 µM of doxorubicin (Fig. 3A). Fig. 3B shows the time-dependent decrease of Sp1 protein level, when treated with 1 µM of doxorubicin for variable time. However, there was no change observed in Sp1 mRNA with the same condition (Fig. 3C). And, the immunofluorescence microscopy image showed that the protein of Sp1 was down-regulated by doxorubicin treatment (Fig. 3D). These results indicate that Sp1 protein is regulating survivin expression level.



Figure 3 legend (the following page)

Fig. 3. Effect of doxorubicin on Sp1 protein and mRNA level in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. (A) The H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line were treated with various concentration of doxorubicin (DXR) for 12 hours. Equal amounts of protein were separated by SDS-PAGE gel, and immunoblot analysis was performed using anti-Sp1 antibody. (B) The cells were treated with 1 μ M of doxorubicin treatment for the indicated time point. Whole cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE gel and analyzed by immunoblot analysis with antibodies against anti-Sp1 and anti-GAPDH antibody. (C) Cells were treated with various concentration of doxorubicin for 12 hours. Total RNA was analyzed by RT-PCR (28 cycles) using primers specific to Sp1 and GAPDH gene. (D) The cells were treated with 1 μ M of doxorubicin treatment for 12 hours. Sp1 protein was also observed with confocal microscopy using primary anti-Sp1 antibody and Rhodamine-conjugated secondary antibody (200x). The results present the means of three independent experiments. **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01. Ns: no significant.

4. Doxorubicin increases p53 protein level and its phosphorylation in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line

Previously study showed that repression of the anti-apoptosis survivin transcription by activation of p53 [15]. Further, it has showed that doxorubicin increase in p53 protein level and in the phosphorylation level at Ser¹⁵ in various human cancer cell lines [16]. Therefore, we investigated the effect of doxorubicin on p53 activation and protein level in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. This is correlates with doxorubicin-stimulated increase in p53 phosphorylation (Ser¹⁵) level at 1 hour, followed by an increase in p53 protein level at 12 hours (Fig. 4A, B and C).





Figure 4 legend (the following page)

Fig. 4. Effect of doxorubicin on p53 activation and protein level in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. (A, B and C) The H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line were treated with 1 μ M of doxorubicin (DXR) treatment for the indicated time point. Whole cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE gel and analyzed by immunoblot analysis with antibodies against anti-p53, anti-phospho-p53 (Ser¹⁵) and anti-GAPDH antibody. The results present the means of three independent experiments.



5. Promoter sequence analysis of survivin gene

The survivin gene promoter contains several Sp1 and p53 binding sites with some variations between species as shown in Fig. 5, indicating the evolutionarily conserved participation of Sp1 and p53 in the survivin gene regulation.





Figure 5 legend (the following page)

Fig. 5. ClustalW alignment of the proximal promoter regions of the human, mouse and rat survivin gene. Multiple sequence alignment (ClustalW2) of the proximal promoter regions of the human, mouse and rat survivin genes. Black arrow indicates the transcriptional start site and +1 points out the translation start codon. Canonical p53, Sp1, Sp1-like sites of the human and mouse survivin genes are boxed [15,39-41]. Two gray bars indicate the primers for ChIP analysis [37]; a red bar corresponds to human CHR sequence; two blue bars highlight human CDE regions [42].



6. Doxorubicin suppresses survivin expression by the transcriptional activation of p53

In order to determine whether Sp1 and/or p53 are recruited to the endogenous survivin promoter region in response to doxorubicin, we first examined Sp1 or p53 levels in doxorubicin-induced H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. When the cells were treated with 1 μ M of doxorubicin for 8 hours, p53 activation and protein level gradually increased. However, there was no change observed Sp1 protein level with same condition (Fig. 6A). We next performed ChIP experiments using in H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. The fixed cell extracts were incubated with anti-Sp1 or anti-p53 antibodies. The DNA-protein complexes captured by the antibodies were PCR-amplified to detect the presence of the survivin promoter. Anti-Sp1 or anti-p53 antibodies detected the survivin promoter if Sp1 or p53 alone or in a complex that is bound to the survivin promoter. Data presented in Fig. 6B demonstrate that in the absence of doxorubicin the survivin promoter was occupied by Sp1, but not by p53. Following doxorubicin treatment of the H9c2 cardiomyocyte, the survivin promoter had reduced levels of bound Sp1, but an increased level of bound p53. This observation is in accordance with the findings of Esteve et al. using human HCT116 cell line [16] and recently Hsu et al. using rat C6 glioma cell line [37].



Fig. 6. Effect of doxorubicin on the transcriptional activity of Sp1 and p53 in the cardiomyocyte cell line. (A and C) The H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line were treated with 1 μM of doxorubicin for 8 hours. (A) Whole cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE gel and analyzed by immunoblot analysis with antibodies against anti-Sp1, anti-p53, anti-phospho-p53 (Ser¹⁵) and anti-GAPDH antibody. (B) Cross-linked cell lysates were subjected to ChIP analysis with anti-Sp1 or anti-p53 antibody. RT-PCR (36 cycles) was performed with ChIP primer as listed in Materials and Methods. The results present the means of three independent experiments.

7. Doxorubicin induces protein degradation of Sp1 by associated with proteasome-mediated proteolysis

To evaluate whether doxorubicin could down-regulate Sp1 protein level in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line caused by proteasome activation, cells were pretreated with MG132 (50 nM) for 1 hour and then doxorubicin add for 12 hours. The reduction of Sp1 protein due to doxorubicin treatment was significantly prevented by pretreatment of proteasome inhibitor MG132 (Fig. 7A). In the same condition, MG132 pretreatment also inhibited the doxorubicin-mediated down-regulation of survivin in both protein and mRNA levels (Fig. 7 B and 7C, respectively). These data suggest that doxorubicin treatment triggers a degradation of Sp1 protein via proteasome-mediated proteolysis seems to block this process through an unknown mechanism.



Figure 7 legend (the following page)

Fig. 7. Effect of doxorubicin on Sp1 protein levels. (A to C) The H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line were pretreated with proteasome inhibitor MG132 (50 nM) for 1 hour and treated with 1 μ M doxorubicin (DXR) for either 12 hours (A) or 24 hours (B and C). Whole cell lysates were analyzed by immunoblot analysis using anti-Sp1 and anti-survivin antibodies and total RNA was analyzed by RT-PCR (28 cycles) with specific primers to survivin gene. Values are means ±S.D. *p < 0.05.



8. Doxorubicin increases protein degradation of Sp1 via inactivation of Akt/mTOR/p70S6K pathway

Accumulating evidence has suggested that insulin-treated cardiovascular protections are closely related to the activation of PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway [43-47]. And, IGF-1 treatment leads to induced nuclear abundance of Sp1 through PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway in HCF-7 Cells [48]. We first verified the effect of doxorubicin on the Akt/mTOR/p70S6K pathway in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. As shows in Fig. 6A, B and C, phosphorylation of Akt, mTOR and p70S6K were decreased by treatment of H9c2 cardiomyocyte with doxorubicin.





Fig. 8. Effects of doxorubicin on Sp1 upstream pathway in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. (A, B and C) The H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line were treated 1 μ M doxorubicin (DXR) for 12 hours. Whole cell lysates were analyzed by immunoblot analysis for Akt, mTORC1 and p70S6K activation using antibodies listed in Materials and Methods. Note that these blots represent one of three independent experiments. Values are mean ±S.D. *p < 0.05.

9. Delivery of TAT-survivin fusion protein into the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line

We constructed a recombinant survivin fused to the protein transduction domain derived from HIV-TAT protein (Fig. 9A). TAT-survivin protein was transduced into the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line efficiently in a concentration-dependent manner (data not shown). TAT-survivin (1 μ M) were detected by immunoblot analysis using anti-His-tag or anti-survivin antibody (Fig. 9B). And the confocal microscopy image using primary anti-His-tag antibody and Rhodamineconjugated secondary antibody also showed efficient transduction of TATsurvivin protein (Fig. 9C). The colors stained with red and blue in the image represent the transduced TAT-survivin proteins and nuclei, respectively.

WT-survivin	His6		Survivin	His6
TAT-survivin	His6	TAT	Survivin	His6

B.



Figure 9 legend (the following page)

А.

Fig.9. Intracelluar delivery of recombinant TAT-survivin protein in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. (A) Survivin gene was into the BamHI and XhoI sites of the pHis/TAT vector for TAT-survivin fusion protein expression. (B) The H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line were treated with TAT-survivin protein for 1 hour. Immunoblot analysis was performed with anti-His-tag or anti-survivin antibody. Normalized densitometric intensities of levels for transduced protein are shown as average fold changes. (B) Protein transduction was also observed with confocal microscopy using primary anti-His-tag antibody and FITC-conjugated secondary antibody.



10. TAT-survivin protects H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line from doxorubicininduced apoptosis

We examined whether the intracellular delivery of TAT-survivin in this manner would protect H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line against doxorubicininduced injury. As shown in Fig. 10A, significant protective effect of the TATsurvivin protein against doxorubicin-induced cell death was observed in the H9c2 cells. Caspase-3 activity was increased more than 3-fold after doxorubicin treatment. However, TAT-survivin transduction significantly decreased caspase-3 activity (Fig. 10B). Also, TUNEL assay demonstrated the anti-apoptotic effect of TAT-survivin against doxorubicin-induced injury (Fig. 10C and D). Next, we investigated the subcellular localization of proapoptotic mitochondrial protein Smac and cytochrome C, endogenous inhibitors of IAPs, released from mitochondria during apoptosis. TAT-survivin protein inhibited the release of Smac and cytochrome C from the mitochondria to the cytoplasm induced by doxorubicin treatment (Figs. 10E and F).



Figure 10 legend (the following page)









Figure 10 legend (the following page)

Fig. 10. Effect of TAT-survivin transduction on cell viability and apoptosis under doxorubicin treatment in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. (A to F) The H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line were treated with 1 μ M of TAT-survivin for 1 hour and then subjected to doxorubicin (DXR) treatment for 24 hours. (A) Cell viability was assessed by the MTT assay. (B) Caspase-3 activity was determined using caspase-3 activity assay kit. (C and D) Apoptotic cells were measured by the TUNEL assay. (E and F) Mitochondrial and cytoplasm fractions were prepared, and equal amounts of protein were separated by SDS-PAGE gel. The release of Smac or cytochrome c from mitochondria were detected using anti-Smac or anti-cytochrome c antibody. VDAC1 bands show that equal amounts of sample were loaded. Note that blots represent one of three independent experiments. The results present the means of three independent experiments. Values are mean \pm S.D. **P* < 0.05.

11. TAT-survivin transduction leads to recovery of Bcl-2 expression

Apoptotic signals were evaluated to define the effect of TAT-survivin transduction on the doxorubicin-induced apoptosis. To get information about the relationship between doxorubicin-induced apoptosis and apoptosis related signals, we first measured the changes of Bcl-2, Cleaved caspase-3 and Bax by immunoblot analysis. As shown in Fig. 11, Cleaved caspase-3 and Bax protein level were increased following doxorubicin treatment (Fig. 11 A and C), whereas Bcl-2 level was decreased (Fig. 11B). Treatment of TAT-survivin protein led to significant recovery of protein level of Bcl-2 in doxorubicin stimulus (Fig. 11B). Moreover, TAT-survivin transduction significantly decreased cleaved caspase-3 protein level (Fig. 11A). However, there was no change observed in Bax protein with TAT-survivin treatment in same condition (Fig. 11C). RT-PCR showed that the expression of Bcl-2 was down-regulated by doxorubicin treatment, which was significantly recovered by TAT-survivin transduction (Fig. 11D).



Figure 11 legend (the following page)

Fig.11. Effects of TAT-survivin on Bcl-2 expression in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. (A to D) The cells were treated with 1 μ M of TAT-survivin for 1 hour and then subjected to doxorubicin (DXR) treatment for 24 hours. Whole cell lysates were immunoblotted with (A) anti-Cleaved caspase-3, (B) anti-Bax and (C) anti-Bcl-2 antibody. (D) Total RNA was purified from cells and subjected to RT-PCR using primers specific for Bcl-2. Note that blots represent one of three independent experiments. Values are mean ±S.D. **P* < 0.05.



12. TAT-survivin restores the transcriptional activity of CREB by p38 inactivation

The activation of cyclic adenosine monophosphate response elementbinding protein (CREB), which is known as the transcription factor of Bcl-2 was quantified in both whole cell lysate and nuclear protein. As shown in Fig. 13A, doxorubicin prevented the nuclear translocation of CREB. However, a significant restoration of CREB nuclear translocation was observed in the treatment of TAT-survivin protein (Fig. 12A). The phosphorylated form of p38 MAP kinase, which is known as the upstream signal regulator of doxorubicininduced apoptosis was decreased with TAT-survivin treatment (Fig. 12B).





Fig.12. Effect of TAT-survivin on CREB and p38 MAP kinase in doxorubicin-treated H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. (A and B) The cells were treated with 1 μ M of TAT-survivin for 1 hour and then subjected to doxorubicin (DXR) treatment for 24 hours. (A) Equal amounts of nuclear protein were separated by SDS-PAGE gel, and immunoblot analysis was performed using anti-phospho-CREB (Ser¹³³) or anti-CREB antibody. LaminB bands show that equal amounts of sample were loaded. (B) Whole lysates were immunoblotted with anti-phospho-p38 (Thr¹⁸⁰/Tyr¹⁸²) or anti-p38 antibody. Note that blots represent one of three independent experiments.

13. Doxorubicin induces apoptosis in myocardial rat model.

To investigate the effect of doxorubicin on apoptosis in Sprague Dawley rat model. Sprague Dawley rat were treated at 1, 3, 5 and 7 days with 15 mg/kg of doxorubicin (Fig. 13A). After sacrifice, injured heart was isolated and paraffin embedded for Haemotoxylin and Eosin staining, immunohistochemistry for cleaved caspase-3 and Masson's trichrome staining. Fig. 13 shows the representative images of each group treated with doxorubicin or saline below. The results clearly show the heart affected by multifocal areas of patchy and scattered cardiomyocyte with vacuolation in doxorubicin-induced Sprague Dawley rat model (Fig. 13B). And, immunohistochemistry revealed that cleaved-caspase-3 expression was increased in heart from rats treated with doxorubicin compared to that of the saline-treated group (Fig. 13C). However, vacuolated cardiomyocyte are not observed adjacent to areas of fibrosis (Fig. 13D).

	DXR (15mg/kg, IP) injection D+0	Sacrifice at 1 day after DXR	Sacrifice at 3 day after DXR	Sacrifice at 5 day after DXR	Sacrifice at 7 day after DXR
	B.		C. anti-Cleaved cas	D.	
Contro					
DXR (15mg 1000X (7 d	/kg, IP) day)				

A.

Figure 13 legend (the following page)

Fig.13. Effect of doxorubicin on apoptosis in myocardial rat model. (A) Diagram of experimental protocol. Sprague Dawley rats (n=10) were treated with 15 mg/kg of doxorubicin (DXR) by intraperitoneal (IP) injection. Photomicrographs show representative myocardial section 7 day after the injection stained with (B) Haemotoxylin and Eosin, (C) immunohistochemistry for cleaved caspase-3 and (D) Masson's trichrome staining (Control, Saline group vs. DXR, doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) group).



14. Doxorubicin decreases survivin expression levels in myocardial injury rat model

We next investigated the effect of doxorubicin on survivin expression in myocardial rat model. Sprague Dawley rat were treated at 1, 3, 5 and 7 days with 15 mg/kg of doxorubicin by intraperitoneal injection. As shown in Fig. 14A, survivin protein levels were decreased by doxorubicin in a time-dependent manner. And, the immunohistochemistry microscopy image showed that the protein of survivin was down-regulated by doxorubicin treatment (Fig. 14B). We further studied changes in mRNA level of survivin by doxorubicin treatment. RT-PCR showed that there was decreased in survivin mRNA levels (Fig. 14C). These data suggest that doxorubicin decreases survivin protein and mRNA level in myocardial rat model.



B.
anti-survivin

400X
Image: Control
<



Fig.14. Change of survivin protein and mRNA in doxorubicin-induced myocardial rat model. (A, B and C) Sprague Dawley rats (n=10) were treated with 15 mg/kg of doxorubicin (DXR) by intraperitoneal (IP) injection. After sacrifice, injured heart was isolated and survivin protein measured by (A) immunoblot analysis or (B) immunohistochemistry analysis and (C) survivin mRNA measured by RT-PCR. Lane 1, saline control; Lane 2, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) day 1; Lane 3, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) day 3; Lane 4, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) day 5; Lane 5, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) day 7. Values are mean \pm S.D. *P < 0.05.


15. Doxorubicin suppresses survivin gene by modulating transcription factors Sp1 and p53 in myocardial injury rat model

We previously show that doxorubicin decreases survivin gene by Sp1 or p53 in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. We next examined on Sp1 or p53 in doxorubicin-induced myocardial rat model. Sprague Dawley rats were treated with 15 mg/kg of doxorubicin by intraperitoneal injection. As shown in Figs. 15A and B, Sp1 protein levels were decreased by doxorubicin in a time-dependent manner. However, in the results present study showed that doxorubicin-stimulated increase in p53 phosphorylation (Ser¹⁵) level at 5 day, followed by an increase in p53 protein level at 7 day (Figs. 15A, C and D).





Fig.15 Effect of doxorubicin on Sp1 and p53 in myocardial rat model. (A, B and C) Sprague Dawley rats (n=10) were treated with 15 mg/kg of doxorubicin by intraperitoneal injection. After sacrifice, injured heart was isolated and Sp1 protein, phospho-p53 (Ser¹⁵) and p53 protein level measured by immune blot analysis. Lane 1, saline control; Lane 2, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) day 1; Lane 3, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) day 3; Lane 4, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) day 5; Lane 5, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) day 7. Values are mean ±S.D. **P* < 0.05.

16. Doxorubicin inhibits activation of the Akt/mTOR/p70S6k pathway in myocardial injury rat model

Our result present study shown that doxorubicin decreases activation of Akt, mTOR and p70S6k in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line. Therefore, we examined the effect of doxorubicin on the Akt/mTOR/p70S6k pathway in myocardial rat model. Sprague Dawley rats were treated with 15 mg/kg of doxorubicin by intraperitoneal injection. The results in Fig. 16A, B and C shows that activation of Akt, mTOR and p70S6k were decreased by treatment of myocardial rat model with doxorubicin.





Figure 16 legend (the following page)

Fig.16. Effect of doxorubicin on Sp1 upstream in myocardial rat model. (A, B and C) Sprague Dawley rats (n=10) were treated with 15 mg/kg of doxorubicin by intraperitoneal injection. After sacrifice, injured heart was isolated and phospho-Akt (Ser⁴⁷³), Akt protein, phospho-mTOR (Ser²⁴⁸¹), mTOR protein, phospho-p70S6k (Thr⁴²¹/Ser⁴²⁴) and p70S6k protein level measured by immunoblot analysis. Lane 1, saline control; Lane 2, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) day 1; Lane 3, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) day 3; Lane 4, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) day 5; Lane 5, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) day 7. Values are mean ±S.D. **P* < 0.05.



17. Delivery of TAT-survivin fusion protein into the Sprague Dawley rat hearts

Sprague Dawley rats were treated with various concentrations of TATsurvivin by intraperitoneal injection. After sacrifice, heart was isolated and transduced TAT-survivin was detected by immunoblot analysis using antisurvivin or anti-His-tag antibody and immunohistochemistry using anti-His-tag antibody. TAT-survivin protein was transduced into myocardial rat heart efficiently in a concentration-dependent manner (Fig. 17A). And the microscopy image using primary anti-His-tag antibody also showed efficient transduction of TAT-survivin protein (Fig. 17B).







Figure 17 legend (the following page)

Fig.17. PTD delivery of TAT-survivin into the Sprague Dawley rat hearts.

(A and B) Sprague Dawley rats (n=10) were treated with various concentrations of TAT-survivin by intraperitoneal (IP) injection. After 1 hour, heart was isolated and TAT-survivin was detected by (A) immunoblot analysis using anti-survivin or anti-His-tag antibody and (B) immunohistochemistry analysis using anti-His-tag antibody.



18. TAT-survivin protects rat cardiomyocyte from doxorubicin-induced in myocardial injury rat model

We investigated the protective effect of survivin in doxorubicin-induced myocardial rat model. Sprague Dawley rat were pretreated with 2 mg/kg of TAT-survivin for 1 hour and then 15 mg/kg of doxorubicin by intraperitoneal injection. After, rats were treated again with 2 mg/kg of TAT-survivin at 1, 3, 5 and 7 days (Fig. 18A). After sacrifice, hearts were isolated and paraffin embedded for immunohistochemistry analysis for survivin and Masson's trichrome staining. As shown in Fig. 18B, survivin protein levels were decreased by doxorubicin. However, the survivin protein was decreased by doxorubicin treatment, which was significantly recovered by TAT-survivin transduction. Haemotoxylin and Eosin staining image showed that the heart affected by multifocal areas of patchy and scattered cardiomyocyte with vacuolation by doxorubicin treatment, which was also significantly recovered by TAT-survivin protein (Fig.18C).

1) PBS (2 mg/kg)	1) PBS (15 mg/kg)	1) PBS (2 mg/kg)	1) PBS (2 mg/kg)	1) PBS (2 mg/kg)	1) PBS (2 mg/kg)
2) PBS (2 mg/kg)	2) DXR (15 mg/kg)	2) PBS (2 mg/kg)	2) PBS (2 mg/kg)	2) PBS (2 mg/kg)	2) PBS (2 mg/kg)
3) Survivin (2 mg/kg)	3) DXR (15 mg/kg)	3) Survivin (2 mg/kg)			
D+0 (1 hr before)	D+0	D+1	D+3	D+5	After 1 hr Sacrifice at D+7



Figure 18 legend (the following page)

A.

Fig.18. Effect of TAT-survivin on cardiotoxicity in doxorubicin-induced myocardial rat model. (A) Diagram of experimental protocol. (B and C) Sprague Dawley rat (n=10) were pretreated with 2 mg/kg of TAT-survivin for 1 hour and then 15 mg/kg of doxorubicin (DXR) by intraperitoneal (IP) injection. After, rats were treated again with 2 mg/kg of TAT-survivin at 7 day. (B) Photomicrographs showing representative myocardial section stained with immunohistochemistry for survivin and (C) Haemotoxylin and Eosin staining demonstrated less cardiomyocyte vacuolation and myofibrillar disarray.



19. TAT-survivin protein-pretreated hearts demonstrated decreased caspase-3 activity in doxorubicin-induced myocardial injury rat model.

Next, we investigated the protective effect of survivin on caspase-3 in doxorubicin-induced myocardial rat model. Sprague Dawley rat were pretreated with 2 mg/kg of TAT-survivin for 1 hour and then 15 mg/kg of doxorubicin by intraperitoneal injection. After, rats were treated again with 2 mg/kg of TAT-survivin at 1, 3, 5 and 7 days. After sacrifice, hearts were isolated and paraffin embedded for immunohistochemistry analysis for cleaved-caspase-3. Apoptosis were detected by caspase-3 activity and immunoblot analysis using anti-cleaved caspase-3 antibody. As shown in Figs. 19A and B, cleaved caspase-3 levels were increased by doxorubicin treatment, which was significantly decreased by TAT-survivin transduction. Also, caspase-3 activity assay demonstrated the anti-apoptotic effect of TAT-survivin against doxorubicin-induced injury (Fig. 19C).



Figure 19 legend (the following page)

Fig. 19. Effect of TAT-survivin on doxorubicin-induced decrease of caspase-3 activity in myocardial rat model. (A, B and C) TAT-Survivin was intraperitoneally (IP) injected into Sprague Dawley rat (n=10). After 1 hour, doxorubicin (DXR) was intraperitoneally injected. And then, TAT-Survivin was injected after 1, 3, 5 and 7 days. Heart was isolated and caspase-3 levels were measured by (A) immunohistochemistry analysis, (B) immunoblot analysis for cleaved caspase-3 and (C) caspase-3 activity. Lane 1, saline control; Lane 2, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg); Lane 3, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) and TAT-Survivin (2 mg/kg) 0, 1, 3, 5, 7 days. Values are mean \pm S.D. **P* < 0.05.



20. Left ventricle Functional recovery after TAT-survivin delivery measured by the Langendorff system.

Next, we investigated left ventricle (LV) functional recovery after TATsurvivin pretreatment in the acute doxorubicin and ischemia/reperfusion injury model. To test directly the effects of TAT-survivin on LV functional recovery in doxorubicin-induced myocardial rat model, we used an *ex vivo* Langendorff system. Briefly, isolated Sprague Dawley rat hearts were perfused with KH buffer for 30 minutes, followed by global ischemia for 20 minutes and reperfusion for 40 minutes (Fig. 20A). There was significantly decrease in LVDP between control and doxorubicin-induced hearts after perfusion for 40 minutes, which was significantly decreased by TAT-survivin transduction (Figs. 20B and 20D). However, there was no change observed in heart rate with the same condition (Fig. 20C). To further evaluate the cardiac function after ischemia/reperfusion, we also calculated the rate pressure product (RPP). RPP was significantly improved in the doxorubicin/TAT-survivin pretreated group, compared with doxorubicin/saline group (Fig. 20E).



Figure 20 legend (the following page)

Fig. 20. Hemodynamic parameters in each groups measured by Langendorff system. (A) Diagram of I/R experimental protocol. Hemodynamic parameters were assessed after 20 minutes of global ischemia followed by 10, 20, 30, 40 minutes of reperfusion. (B) Measurements of left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) and (C) Heart rate (HR). (D) LVDP (%; recovery LVDP) was calculated based on equation: LVDP at the end of reperfusion / LVDP at preischemic period and (E) Rate pressure product (RPP) was calculated based on the equation: RPP = LVDP x heart rate. CTL, saline control; DXR, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) and saline 0, 1, 3, 5, 7 days; DXR/Survivin, Doxorubicin (15 mg/kg) and TAT-Survivin (2 mg/kg) 0, 1, 3, 5, 7 days. Shown as mean \pm S.D **P* < 0.05. IP: intraperitoneally injection.





Fig. 21. Schematic representation regarding the protective effect of survivin in doxorubicin-induced cardiomyocyte death. This figure is derived from our experimental findings and other previously reported studies. Proapoptotic signaling cascades induced by doxorubicin are shown as red lines. Black lines represent pathways that are pro-survival or carry an anti-apoptotic signal. Protective proteins including survivin are illustrated by the gray boxes.

IV. DISCUSSION

The major finding of this study are as follows. First, survivin may be an important protein in the process of doxorubicin-treated cardiac dysfunction in H9c2 cell line and a rat model. Second, TAT-survivin protein has a potentially cardioprotective effect against doxorubicin-induced cardiomyocyte apoptosis.

Doxorubicin is the most commonly used anticancer drugs, but its cumulative and dose-dependent cardiotoxicity has been a major concern in clinical practice for decades [1]. This doxorubicin-treated cardiotoxicity leads to cardiomyocyte apoptosis, progressive cardiomyopathy, and congestive heart failure [3]. Although intensive investigations on doxorubicin-treated cardiotoxicity have been performed, the underlying mechanisms have not been completely elucidated. However, a rapidly expanding body of evidence supports the notion that cardiomyocyte death by apoptosis and necrosis is a primary mechanism of doxorubicin-treated cardiotoxicity [3,5]. Our study is the first to demonstrate that doxorubicin inhibits survivin expression in H9c2 cardiomyocyte, a rat-derived noncancerous myoblast cell line and Sprague Dawley rat heart. And, the promoter region of survivin gene has been studied exclusively in various cancer cell lines, mostly originated from mouse or human [15,39-41]. In the present study, we demonstrated that doxorubicin inhibited survivin expression by Sp1 protein degradation against doxorubicin-mediated toxicity of cardiomyocyte. In the study, similar to our result, it has been demonstrated that doxorubicin induces Sp1 down-regulation in doxorubicinresistant MCF-7 cell line, whereas Sp1 mRNA is not changed by doxorubicin treatment [49]. Moreover, in the present study we have shown that in the absence of doxorubicin the survivin promoter was occupied by Sp1 protein, but not by p53 protein. Following doxorubicin treatment of the cardiomyocyte, the survivin promoter had reduced levels of bound Sp1, but an increased level of bound p53. In consistent with our ChIP data, in which Sp1 acted as a transcriptional activator, it has been demonstrated that p53 appears on the promoter without the loss of Sp1 to mediate dual function of both transcription activator and repressor after 9 hours of doxorubicin treatment [16]. The increased level of p53 protein can be accomplished by enhancing protein stability instead of inducing transcription or translation. Our results supported the notion that DNA damage, e.g. doxorubicin stimuli, induces phosphorylation of p53 at serine¹⁵ and leads to a reduced interaction between p53 and its negative regulator, the oncoprotein MDM2, which inhibits p53 accumulation by targeting it for ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation [46,50]. Surprisingly, the doxorubicin was increased phosphorylation of p53 at Ser¹⁵ in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line and Sprague Dawley rat heart. To better understand the

mechanisms for cardiomyopathy associated by doxorubicin, more studies will be required to identify the specific kinases that are activated by doxorubicin to mediate the Ser¹⁵ phosphorylation and define the precise correlation between the post-translational modification of p53 and its function as transcription factor [16,51]. It has also been suggested that chromatin modification in the promoter region may play a crucial role in the survivin gene silencing by p53 [9]. As shown in Fig. 7, we designed an experiment using a potent proteasome inhibitor MG132 to inhibit doxorubicin-stimulated degradation of the Sp1 protein. Our findings are supported by a recent publication that showed MG132 pretreatment of doxorubicin-resistant MCF-7 cells inhibited the doxorubicin-induced Sp1 down-regulation [49]. Insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) has been reported to induce the expression of survivin by increasing the translation of mRNA through mTOR-dependent p70S6K activation, rather than by regulating gene transcription or protein stability [28,52]. In a more complicated study by Song et al., IGF-I has been suggested to reverse suppression of survivin gene expression by TGF- β [52], whose survivin gene down-regulation is depend on two cell cycle repressor elements in the survivin promoter region, a cell cycledependent element (CDE) and a cell cycle genes homology region (CHR); and two transcription factors Smad2 and Smad3 [42]. In this study, it was successfully confirmed by immunoblot analysis that doxorubicin-treated decreases survivin expression by Sp1 degradation through Akt/mTOR/p70s6K pathway in the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line and Sprague Dawley rat heart.

Survivin known as strong anti-apoptosis factor were successfully delivered into the H9c2 cardiomyocyte cell line and Sprague Dawley rat heart using PTD system, leading to significant protective effect against doxorubicin-treated apoptosis. The transduction of TAT-survivin significantly reduced cell death and caspase activity with less cardiomyocyte vacuolation and myofibrillar disarray, compared with doxorubicin-injury rat heart model. Our results suggest that intracellularly delivered survivin suppresses caspase associated cell death, at least in part, by cytochrome C or procaspase-3 following preventing its correct function, thereby allowing the cells better tolerate potentially lethal doxorubicin injury. In additional experiments, we evaluated the effect of TATsurvivin protein on cardiac functional recovery using Langendorff system. After ischemia-reperfusion injury, cardioprotective effect of TAT-survivin such as functional recovery measured by LVDP (left ventricular developed pressure) and RPP (rate pressure product) was observed. Our finding agrees with a previous observation that survivin gene therapy improves left ventricular systolic dysfunction in doxorubicin-treated cardiomyopathy by reducing apoptosis [33]. The induction of Bcl-2, which is known as an anti-apoptosis factor, also manifested anti-apoptotic effect of TAT-survivin. Both protein and

- 77 -

mRNA level of Bcl-2 were increased by TAT-survivin transduction. We also demonstrated that the activation of CREB, which is the transcription factor of Bcl-2, was also increased by TAT-survivin. The CREB has been established as a cellular transcription factor which binds to a specific DNA site called cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element (CRE) that regulating the transcription of several proteins including the expression of IAPs family [53,54], leading to an upregulation of Bcl-2 expression that is related to anti-apoptosis. Other reports showed that activation of CREB also increased the expression level of the IAP family [55]. The present findings, protein delivery of TATsurvivin, suggest that Bcl-2 may be at least in part involved in the protection mechanism with TAT-survivin against doxorubicin insult, and that recovery of Bcl-2 level may be attributed to the CREB reactivation by TAT-survivin treatment. Furthermore, TAT-survivin transduction recovered its translocation of Smac into mitochondria from cytoplasm. Smac is a mitochondrial protein that promotes apoptosis by inhibiting IAPs. Survivin is considered to inhibit Smac by binding each other in cytosol [21], but the transduction of survivin also suppressed the release of Smac from mitochondria in our study. Although the interaction between Smac and survivin in the mitochondria is not proven, this result can be explained by the activation of Bcl-2. It is reported that Bcl-2 attenuated the release of Smac from mitochondria [56]. We also observed that

doxorubicin-induced cytochrome C release from mitochondria is inhibited by TAT-survivin protein transduction. Besides its interaction with Smac as already reported, survivin may also bind to other upstream proteins of Bcl-2 and regulate the release of mitochondrial proteins including Smac and cytochrome C. Taken together, a mechanism of action of survivin protein for the prevention of Smac and cytochrome C release can be explained by its direct effect on CREB in keeping the level of Bcl-2 high or by regulating the specific protein kinases that activate CREB. According to previous studies the transcriptional activity of CREB requires phosphorylation of serine¹³³ which provides positive conditions to bind with CRE [57]. Also, CREB must form a complex such as its binding with transducers of regulated CREB protein 2 (TORC2) to achieve its transcriptional activity. The increase of protein kinase A (PKA) and protein kinase G (PKG)-Ia activity induces the translocation of TORC2 into nucleus and also phosphorylates CREB [58]. We observed that TAT-survivin transduction significantly attenuated the phosphorylation of p38 MAP kinase against doxorubicin-associated injury model. Therefore, we speculated that the TAT-survivin could recover the CREB activation and Bcl-2 expression by suppressing p38, although our data did not provide direct evidence for a role of p38 in this event. MAP kinases are known to regulate gene expression, mitosis, differentiation, cell survival, and apoptosis in response to a wide variety of stimuli [59]. Generally, extracellular regulated kinases (ERKs) activation is involved in cardiac cell proliferation and survival [60]. In contrast, Jun Nterminal kinases (JNKs) is activated by several stimuli that induce cardiomyocyte death [61]. Recent evidence has implicated dual role of p38 as a regulator of cell growth, thus it can promote either cellular survival or death [62]. Many reports suggested that p38 activation is necessary for cell death in response to various stimuli [63,64].

In the opposite, other observations indicated that p38 plays a role in the cell protection against several stresses [65,66]. Several studies have shown that p38 MAP kinase can act a negative regulator of cardiomyocyte death against many other stimuli [62,67,68]. For instance, the p38 activation is associated with protection against cardiomyocyte apoptosis in myocardial infarction model by coronary artery ligation [69]. Comparably, p38 activation protects cardiomyocyte from thermal stress-induced cell death in the isolated perfused heart model [70]. Moreover, the p38 MAP kinase pathway is substantially involved in the protective effect against doxorubicin-induced cardiac cell death [62].

Therefore, a possible mechanism underlying the cardioprotective effect of TAT-survivin, which we can propose, is that doxorubicin-treated p38 activation may suppress other intracellular factor which activates the nuclear translocation

of CREB and transcriptional activity of Bcl-2. This finding corresponds to the results that p38 MAP kinase is shown to crosstalk in PKA pathway which is an upstream positive regulator of CREB [67]. Our results support that doxorubicin-induced p38 activation can suppress the PKA pathway, leading to the inactivation of CREB and downregulation of Bcl-2 gene expression, and this event may be prevented by TAT-survivin protein transduction. Evidence has been demonstrated that p38 MAP kinase mediates apoptotic cell death through downregulation of Bcl family [71,72].



V. CONCLUSION

Clinically, the doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity has been one of the most important sequelae of current chemotherapy against various cancers. So many researchers have tried to find the safe and effective way for reducing the cardiotoxicity of anthracyclin treatment. Our findings suggest the doxorubicin was decreased survivin expression, which were demonstrated by the proteasome-mediated degradation of Sp1 protein via the inactivation of Akt/mTOR/p70S6k pathway. And, direct transduction of survivin protein into cardiomyocyte using PTD system can prevent cardiac cells death from doxorubicin. Moreover, the PTD-mediated pretreatment of TAT-survivin showed less cardiomyocyte vacuolation and myofibrillar disarray, which were demonstrated by doxorubicin. We demonstrated LV functional recovery after TAT-survivin pretreatment in the acute doxorubicin and ischemia/reperfusion injury model. We could assume that the protective role of survivin protein is closely associated with the regulation of CREB activation and Bcl-2 gene expression, although its mechanisms are not fully elucidated. Therefore, survivin pretreatment using PTD-mediated delivery may offer potential cardioprotection against doxorubicin and ischemia-reperfusion injury. The schematic diagram represents a model of the intracellular mechanism of the protective effect of survivin in doxorubicin-treated cardiomyocyte death (Fig.

- 82 -

21). Promising further study will prove our hypothesis and reveal biological role of survivin in the cardiac cells.



REFERENCES

- [1] E.A. Lefrak, J. Pitha, S. Rosenheim, J.A. Gottlieb, A clinicopathologic analysis of adriamycin cardiotoxicity, Cancer 32 (1973) 302-314.
- [2] P.K. Singal, N. Iliskovic, Doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy, The New England journal of medicine 339 (1998) 900-905.
- [3] G. Takemura, H. Fujiwara, Doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy from the cardiotoxic mechanisms to management, Progress in cardiovascular diseases 49 (2007) 330-352.
- [4] K.H. Kim, G.Y. Oudit, P.H. Backx, Erythropoietin protects against doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy via a phosphatidylinositol 3kinase-dependent pathway, The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics 324 (2008) 160-169.
- [5] B. Venkatesan, S.D. Prabhu, K. Venkatachalam, S. Mummidi, A.J. Valente, R.A. Clark, P. Delafontaine, B. Chandrasekar, WNT1-inducible signaling pathway protein-1 activates diverse cell survival pathways and blocks doxorubicin-induced cardiomyocyte death, Cellular signalling 22 84 -

(2010) 809-820.

- [6] G. Ambrosini, C. Adida, D.C. Altieri, A novel anti-apoptosis gene, survivin, expressed in cancer and lymphoma, Nature medicine 3 (1997) 917-921.
- [7] M.V. Mityaev, E.P. Kopantzev, A.A. Buzdin, T.V. Vinogradova, E.D. Sverdlov, Functional significance of a putative sp1 transcription factor binding site in the survivin gene promoter, Biochemistry. Biokhimiia 73 (2008) 1183-1191.
- [8] D. Grossman, P.J. Kim, O.P. Blanc-Brude, D.E. Brash, S. Tognin, P.C. Marchisio, D.C. Altieri, Transgenic expression of survivin in keratinocytes counteracts UVB-induced apoptosis and cooperates with loss of p53, The Journal of clinical investigation 108 (2001) 991-999.
- [9] A. Mirza, M. McGuirk, T.N. Hockenberry, Q. Wu, H. Ashar, S. Black, S.F. Wen, L. Wang, P. Kirschmeier, W.R. Bishop, L.L. Nielsen, C.B. Pickett, S. Liu, Human survivin is negatively regulated by wild-type p53 and participates in p53-dependent apoptotic pathway, Oncogene 21 (2002) 2613-2622.

- [10] Y. Jiang, H.I. Saavedra, M.P. Holloway, G. Leone, R.A. Altura, Aberrant regulation of survivin by the RB/E2F family of proteins, The Journal of biological chemistry 279 (2004) 40511-40520.
- [11] N. Cosgrave, A.D. Hill, L.S. Young, Growth factor-dependent regulation of survivin by c-myc in human breast cancer, Journal of molecular endocrinology 37 (2006) 377-390.
- [12] X.H. Peng, P. Karna, Z. Cao, B.H. Jiang, M. Zhou, L. Yang, Cross-talk between epidermal growth factor receptor and hypoxia-inducible factorlalpha signal pathways increases resistance to apoptosis by upregulating survivin gene expression, The Journal of biological chemistry 281 (2006) 25903-25914.
- [13] D.C. Altieri, Survivin, cancer networks and pathway-directed drug discovery, Nature reviews. Cancer 8 (2008) 61-70.
- [14] D. Raj, T. Liu, G. Samadashwily, F. Li, D. Grossman, Survivin repression by p53, Rb and E2F2 in normal human melanocytes, Carcinogenesis 29 (2008) 194-201.

- [15] W.H. Hoffman, S. Biade, J.T. Zilfou, J. Chen, M. Murphy, Transcriptional repression of the anti-apoptotic survivin gene by wild type p53, The Journal of biological chemistry 277 (2002) 3247-3257.
- [16] P.O. Esteve, H.G. Chin, S. Pradhan, Molecular mechanisms of transactivation and doxorubicin-mediated repression of survivin gene in cancer cells, The Journal of biological chemistry 282 (2007) 2615-2625.
- [17] N.H. Nabilsi, R.R. Broaddus, D.S. Loose, DNA methylation inhibits p53-mediated survivin repression, Oncogene 28 (2009) 2046-2050.
- [18] R. Xu, P. Zhang, J. Huang, S. Ge, J. Lu, G. Qian, Sp1 and Sp3 regulate basal transcription of the survivin gene, Biochemical and biophysical research communications 356 (2007) 286-292.
- [19] D.C. Altieri, Survivin and IAP proteins in cell-death mechanisms, The Biochemical journal 430 (2010) 199-205.
- [20] A.C. Mita, M.M. Mita, S.T. Nawrocki, F.J. Giles, Survivin: key regulator of mitosis and apoptosis and novel target for cancer therapeutics, Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the

American Association for Cancer Research 14 (2008) 5000-5005.

- [21] Z. Song, X. Yao, M. Wu, Direct interaction between survivin and Smac/DIABLO is essential for the anti-apoptotic activity of survivin during taxol-induced apoptosis, The Journal of biological chemistry 278 (2003) 23130-23140.
- [22] S. Fukuda, S. Kaga, H. Sasaki, L. Zhan, L. Zhu, H. Otani, R. Kalfin, D.K. Das, N. Maulik, Angiogenic signal triggered by ischemic stress induces myocardial repair in rat during chronic infarction, Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology 36 (2004) 547-559.
- [23] S. Kaga, L. Zhan, E. Altaf, N. Maulik, Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta/beta-catenin promotes angiogenic and anti-apoptotic signaling through the induction of VEGF, Bcl-2 and survivin expression in rat ischemic preconditioned myocardium, Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology 40 (2006) 138-147.
- [24] L.L. Yao, Y.G. Wang, W.J. Cai, T. Yao, Y.C. Zhu, Survivin mediates the anti-apoptotic effect of delta-opioid receptor stimulation in cardiomyocytes, Journal of cell science 120 (2007) 895-907.

- [25] A. Abbate, S. Scarpa, D. Santini, J. Palleiro, F. Vasaturo, J. Miller, C. Morales, G.W. Vetrovec, A. Baldi, Myocardial expression of survivin, an apoptosis inhibitor, in aging and heart failure. An experimental study in the spontaneously hypertensive rat, International journal of cardiology 111 (2006) 371-376.
- [26] B. Levkau, M. Schafers, J. Wohlschlaeger, K. von Wnuck Lipinski, P. Keul, S. Hermann, N. Kawaguchi, P. Kirchhof, L. Fabritz, J. Stypmann, L. Stegger, U. Flogel, J. Schrader, J.W. Fischer, P. Hsieh, Y.L. Ou, F. Mehrhof, K. Tiemann, A. Ghanem, M. Matus, J. Neumann, G. Heusch, K.W. Schmid, E.M. Conway, H.A. Baba, Survivin determines cardiac function by controlling total cardiomyocyte number, Circulation 117 (2008) 1583-1593.
- [27] J. Wohlschlaeger, B. Meier, K.J. Schmitz, A. Takeda, N. Takeda, C. Vahlhaus, B. Levkau, J. Stypmann, C. Schmid, K.W. Schmid, H.A. Baba, Cardiomyocyte survivin protein expression is associated with cell size and DNA content in the failing human heart and is reversibly regulated after ventricular unloading, The Journal of heart and lung transplantation : the official publication of the International Society for Heart Transplantation 29 (2010) 1286-1292.

- [28] V. Vaira, C.W. Lee, H.L. Goel, S. Bosari, L.R. Languino, D.C. Altieri, Regulation of survivin expression by IGF-1/mTOR signaling, Oncogene 26 (2007) 2678-2684.
- [29] P. Zhao, Q. Meng, L.Z. Liu, Y.P. You, N. Liu, B.H. Jiang, Regulation of survivin by PI3K/Akt/p70S6K1 pathway, Biochemical and biophysical research communications 395 (2010) 219-224.
- [30] R. Si, L. Tao, H.F. Zhang, Q.J. Yu, R. Zhang, A.L. Lv, N. Zhou, F. Cao, W.Y. Guo, J. Ren, H.C. Wang, F. Gao, Survivin: a novel player in insulin cardioprotection against myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury, Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology 50 (2011) 16-24.
- [31] J. Rosa, P. Canovas, A. Islam, D.C. Altieri, S.J. Doxsey, Survivin modulates microtubule dynamics and nucleation throughout the cell cycle, Molecular biology of the cell 17 (2006) 1483-1493.
- [32] J.R. Kanwar, S.K. Kamalapuram, R.K. Kanwar, Targeting survivin in cancer: patent review, Expert opinion on therapeutic patents 20 (2010) 1723-1737.
- [33] P.J. Lee, D. Rudenko, M.A. Kuliszewski, C. Liao, M.G. Kabir, K.A.

Connelly, H. Leong-Poi, Survivin gene therapy attenuates left ventricular systolic dysfunction in doxorubicin cardiomyopathy by reducing apoptosis and fibrosis, Cardiovascular research 101 (2014) 423-433.

- [34] E. Vives, J.P. Richard, C. Rispal, B. Lebleu, TAT peptide internalization: seeking the mechanism of entry, Current protein & peptide science 4 (2003) 125-132.
- [35] J.H. Kwon, J.B. Kim, K.H. Lee, S.M. Kang, N. Chung, Y. Jang, J.H. Chung, Protective effect of heat shock protein 27 using protein transduction domain-mediated delivery on ischemia/reperfusion heart injury, Biochemical and biophysical research communications 363 (2007) 399-404.
- [36] X.L. Ma, S. Kumar, F. Gao, C.S. Louden, B.L. Lopez, T.A. Christopher, C. Wang, J.C. Lee, G.Z. Feuerstein, T.L. Yue, Inhibition of p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase decreases cardiomyocyte apoptosis and improves cardiac function after myocardial ischemia and reperfusion, Circulation 99 (1999) 1685-1691.
- [37] Y.F. Hsu, J.R. Sheu, G. Hsiao, C.H. Lin, T.H. Chang, P.T. Chiu, C.Y. Wang, M.J. Hsu, p53 in trichostatin A induced C6 glioma cell death, Biochimica et biophysica acta 1810 (2011) 504-513.
- [38] Y. Chen, X. Wang, W. Li, H. Zhang, C. Zhao, Y. Li, Z. Wang, C. Chen, Sp1 upregulates survivin expression in adenocarcinoma of lung cell line A549, Anatomical record (Hoboken, N.J. : 2007) 294 (2011) 774-780.
- [39] F. Li, D.C. Altieri, The cancer antiapoptosis mouse survivin gene: characterization of locus and transcriptional requirements of basal and cell cycle-dependent expression, Cancer research 59 (1999) 3143-3151.
- [40] F. Li, D.C. Altieri, Transcriptional analysis of human survivin gene expression, The Biochemical journal 344 Pt 2 (1999) 305-311.
- [41] F. Xia, D.C. Altieri, Mitosis-independent survivin gene expression in vivo and regulation by p53, Cancer research 66 (2006) 3392-3395.
- [42] F.C. Lucibello, N. Liu, J. Zwicker, C. Gross, R. Muller, The differential binding of E2F and CDF repressor complexes contributes to the timing of cell cycle-regulated transcription, Nucleic acids research 25 (1997)

- [43] R. Aikawa, M. Nawano, Y. Gu, H. Katagiri, T. Asano, W. Zhu, R. Nagai,
 I. Komuro, Insulin prevents cardiomyocytes from oxidative stressinduced apoptosis through activation of PI3 kinase/Akt, Circulation 102 (2000) 2873-2879.
- [44] A.K. Jonassen, M.N. Sack, O.D. Mjos, D.M. Yellon, Myocardial protection by insulin at reperfusion requires early administration and is mediated via Akt and p70s6 kinase cell-survival signaling, Circulation research 89 (2001) 1191-1198.
- [45] F. Gao, E. Gao, T.L. Yue, E.H. Ohlstein, B.L. Lopez, T.A. Christopher, X.L. Ma, Nitric oxide mediates the antiapoptotic effect of insulin in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion: the roles of PI3-kinase, Akt, and endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation, Circulation 105 (2002) 1497-1502.
- [46] H. Ma, H.F. Zhang, L. Yu, Q.J. Zhang, J. Li, J.H. Huo, X. Li, W.Y. Guo,H.C. Wang, F. Gao, Vasculoprotective effect of insulin in the ischemic/reperfused canine heart: role of Akt-stimulated NO production,

Cardiovascular research 69 (2006) 57-65.

- [47] J. Li, F. Wu, H. Zhang, F. Fu, L. Ji, L. Dong, Q. Li, W. Liu, Y. Zhang, A. Lv, H. Wang, J. Ren, F. Gao, Insulin inhibits leukocyte-endothelium adherence via an Akt-NO-dependent mechanism in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion, Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology 47 (2009) 512-519.
- [48] M. Mireuta, A. Darnel, M. Pollak, IGFBP-2 expression in MCF-7 cells is regulated by the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway through Sp1-induced increase in transcription, Growth factors (Chur, Switzerland) 28 (2010) 243-255.
- [49] W.H. Liu, L.S. Chang, Fas/FasL-dependent and -independent activation of caspase-8 in doxorubicin-treated human breast cancer MCF-7 cells: ADAM10 down-regulation activates Fas/FasL signaling pathway, The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology 43 (2011) 1708-1719.
- [50] S.Y. Shieh, M. Ikeda, Y. Taya, C. Prives, DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53 alleviates inhibition by MDM2, Cell 91 (1997)

- [51] M. Murphy, J. Ahn, K.K. Walker, W.H. Hoffman, R.M. Evans, A.J. Levine, D.L. George, Transcriptional repression by wild-type p53 utilizes histone deacetylases, mediated by interaction with mSin3a, Genes & development 13 (1999) 2490-2501.
- [52] K. Song, E. Shankar, J. Yang, K.L. Bane, R. Wahdan-Alaswad, D. Danielpour, Critical role of a survivin/TGF-beta/mTORC1 axis in IGF-I-mediated growth of prostate epithelial cells, PloS one 8 (2013) e61896.
- [53] R. Meller, M. Minami, J.A. Cameron, S. Impey, D. Chen, J.Q. Lan, D.C. Henshall, R.P. Simon, CREB-mediated Bcl-2 protein expression after ischemic preconditioning, Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism 25 (2005) 234-246.
- [54] K.M. Sakamoto, D.A. Frank, CREB in the pathophysiology of cancer: implications for targeting transcription factors for cancer therapy, Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 15 (2009) 2583-2587.

- [55] J.C. Wong, M. Bathina, R.R. Fiscus, Cyclic GMP/protein kinase G type-Ialpha (PKG-Ialpha) signaling pathway promotes CREB phosphorylation and maintains higher c-IAP1, livin, survivin, and Mcl-1 expression and the inhibition of PKG-Ialpha kinase activity synergizes with cisplatin in non-small cell lung cancer cells, Journal of cellular biochemistry 113 (2012) 3587-3598.
- [56] B. Leibowitz, J. Yu, Mitochondrial signaling in cell death via the Bcl-2 family, Cancer biology & therapy 9 (2010) 417-422.
- [57] B.E. Lonze, D.D. Ginty, Function and regulation of CREB family transcription factors in the nervous system, Neuron 35 (2002) 605-623.
- [58] T.Y. Yune, H.G. Park, J.Y. Lee, T.H. Oh, Estrogen-induced Bcl-2 expression after spinal cord injury is mediated through phosphoinositide-3-kinase/Akt-dependent CREB activation, Journal of neurotrauma 25 (2008) 1121-1131.
- [59] E.K. Kim, E.J. Choi, Pathological roles of MAPK signaling pathways in human diseases, Biochimica et biophysica acta 1802 (2010) 396-405.

- [60] P. Li, S. Cavallero, Y. Gu, T.H. Chen, J. Hughes, A.B. Hassan, J.C. Bruning, M. Pashmforoush, H.M. Sucov, IGF signaling directs ventricular cardiomyocyte proliferation during embryonic heart development, Development (Cambridge, England) 138 (2011) 1795-1805.
- [61] J.H. Ha, H.S. Noh, I.W. Shin, J.R. Hahm, D.R. Kim, Mitigation of H2O2-induced autophagic cell death by propofol in H9c2 cardiomyocytes, Cell biology and toxicology 28 (2012) 19-29.
- [62] C.D. Venkatakrishnan, A.K. Tewari, L. Moldovan, A.J. Cardounel, J.L. Zweier, P. Kuppusamy, G. Ilangovan, Heat shock protects cardiac cells from doxorubicin-induced toxicity by activating p38 MAPK and phosphorylation of small heat shock protein 27, American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology 291 (2006) H2680-2691.
- [63] K. Deacon, P. Mistry, J. Chernoff, J.L. Blank, R. Patel, p38 Mitogenactivated protein kinase mediates cell death and p21-activated kinase mediates cell survival during chemotherapeutic drug-induced mitotic arrest, Molecular biology of the cell 14 (2003) 2071-2087.

- [64] A. Van Laethem, S. Van Kelst, S. Lippens, W. Declercq, P. Vandenabeele, S. Janssens, J.R. Vandenheede, M. Garmyn, P. Agostinis, Activation of p38 MAPK is required for Bax translocation to mitochondria, cytochrome c release and apoptosis induced by UVB irradiation in human keratinocytes, FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 18 (2004) 1946-1948.
- [65] H.C. Reinhardt, A.S. Aslanian, J.A. Lees, M.B. Yaffe, p53-deficient cells rely on ATM- and ATR-mediated checkpoint signaling through the p38MAPK/MK2 pathway for survival after DNA damage, Cancer cell 11 (2007) 175-189.
- [66] P. Sen, P.K. Chakraborty, S. Raha, Activation of p38MAPK by repetitive low-grade oxidative stress leads to pro-survival effects, Biochimica et biophysica acta 1773 (2007) 367-374.
- [67] J. Zhang, T.N. Bui, J. Xiang, A. Lin, Cyclic AMP inhibits p38 activation via CREB-induced dynein light chain, Molecular and cellular biology 26 (2006) 1223-1234.

- [68] J.L. Watson, A. Greenshields, R. Hill, A. Hilchie, P.W. Lee, C.A. Giacomantonio, D.W. Hoskin, Curcumin-induced apoptosis in ovarian carcinoma cells is p53-independent and involves p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation and downregulation of Bcl-2 and survivin expression and Akt signaling, Molecular carcinogenesis 49 (2010) 13-24.
- [69] F. See, W. Thomas, K. Way, A. Tzanidis, A. Kompa, D. Lewis, S. Itescu,
 H. Krum, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibition improves cardiac function and attenuates left ventricular remodeling following myocardial infarction in the rat, Journal of the American College of Cardiology 44 (2004) 1679-1689.
- [70] C. Gaitanaki, M. Mastri, I.K. Aggeli, I. Beis, Differential roles of p38-MAPK and JNKs in mediating early protection or apoptosis in the hyperthermic perfused amphibian heart, The Journal of experimental biology 211 (2008) 2524-2532.
- [71] S. Grethe, M.P. Ares, T. Andersson, M.I. Porn-Ares, p38 MAPK mediates TNF-induced apoptosis in endothelial cells via phosphorylation and downregulation of Bcl-x(L), Experimental cell research 298 (2004) 632-642.

[72] K. Hui, Y. Yang, K. Shi, H. Luo, J. Duan, J. An, P. Wu, Y. Ci, L. Shi, C. Xu, The p38 MAPK-regulated PKD1/CREB/Bcl-2 pathway contributes to selenite-induced colorectal cancer cell apoptosis in vitro and in vivo, Cancer letters 354 (2014) 189-199.



ABSTRACT (KOREAN)

독소루비신으로 유도된 심근 손상모델에서

서바이빈 단백질의 심근 보호효과 규명

<지도교수 강석민>



세포사멸은 독소루비신에 의해 발생한 심장독성에서 중요한 메커니즘으로 알려져 있다. 세포사멸을 억제하는 단백질 중 하나인 서바이빈은 심근세포의 분자적 경로에 따른 세포사멸의 조절에 관련이 있다. 최근 연구에 따르면 동물 모델에서 서바이빈 단백질 발현 감소는 비정상적 심장 리모델링 발생과 연관 있는 것으로 -101보고되었다. 그러나 독소루비신에 의한 심근손상에서 서바이빈 단백질의 심근보호효과에 대한 기전 연구는 진행되지 않았다. 따라서 본 연구는 독소루비신에 의한 심근손상 모델에서 서바이빈 단백질의 역할과 서바이빈 단백질을 단백질 전달시스템을 사용하여 세포사멸 억제효과와 그에 따른 분자 생물학적 기전을 조사하였다.

본 연구에서 심근세포와 쥐의 심장에서 독소루비신을 처리한 결과 서바이빈 단백질이 유의하게 감소하는 것을 관찰하였다. 또한, Sp1 단백질은 서바이빈 유전자 발현을 유도하는 역할을 하며, 프로테아좀 활성화가 독소루비신에 의해 증가하여 Sp1 단백질의 분해가 되는 것을 확인하였다. p53 단백질의 활성화는 서바이빈 유전자의 전사를 억제하며, 독소루비신에 의해 p53의 인산화와 단백질이 증가하는 것을 관찰하였다. 독소루비신에 의해 심근세포에서 서바이빈 전사에 관여하는 프로모터에 Sp1 단백질이 붙는 수준은 감소하였지만 p53 단백질은 붙는 수준이 증가하는 것을 확인하였다. 또한, Sp1 단백질을 조절하는 상위단백질은 Akt, mTOR, p70s6k 단백질이며, 이들은 독소루비신에 의해 활성화가 감소하는 것을 관찰하였다.

서바이빈 단백질의 세포 보호 효과를 규명하기 위해 서바이빈 유전자를 HIV 바이러스에서 얻은 단백질 전달시스템인 TAT--102유전자와 결합한 단백질을 제작하여 사용하였다. TAT-서바이빈 단백질은 심근세포와 쥐의 심장에 효과적으로 전달되는 것을 관찰 할 수 있었으며, caspase-3 activity, TUNEL assay 그리고 cell viability 방법을 통해 전달된 TAT-서바이빈 단백질의 세포사멸 억제 효과를 확인하였다. 또한, TAT-서바이빈 단백질은 독소루비신에 의해 유도된 심근세포의 공포 형성과 근원섬유의 손상이 억제되는 것을 관찰하였다.

TAT-서바이빈 단백질의 심장 기능 회복 효과를 알아보기 위해 랑겐도르프 시스템을 이용하였다. 허혈-재관류 손상 후 좌심실내압 (LVDP: left ventricular developed pressure)와 RPP (Rate pressure product)를 관찰한 결과, TAT-서바이빈 단백질 투여가 심장기능 회복에 관여하는 것을 관찰할 수 있었다.

또한, 심근세포를 이용한 독소루비신 세포 손상 모델에서 TAT-서바이빈 단백질이 p38 MAPK 단백질의 활성화를 억제하여 Bcl-2의 전사인자인 CREB 단백질이 핵으로 이동되었고, 세포사멸 과정 중 미토콘드리아에서 분비하는 Smac 단백질이 Bcl-2 단백질 발현에 의해 분비가 억제 되는 것을 확인되었다.

본 연구 결과를 통해, 서바이빈 단백질은 독소루비신의 심근 손상 유발에 있어 중요한 단백질임을 알 수 있었고, 향후 임상에서 -103심근보호 치료약제의 개발에 중요한 타겟으로 사용 될 수 있을 것이다.



핵심 되는 말: 세포사멸, 서바이빈 단백질, TAT 단백질, 독소루비신,

심근세포